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Thursday, March 29, 2007

     --- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today in connection with an application that was filed on February 9th by the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario, under section 33(4) of the Electricity Act, seeking a review of amendment to the market rules made by the Independent Electricity System Operator on January 18th, 2007.


The amendment at issue in this application is identified as MR-00331-R00, "Specifying the Ramping Capability in the Market Schedule."  It relates to the ramp rate assumption used in the market dispatch algorithm in IESO‑administered markets, known more commonly as the three times ramp rate market rule amendment.


On February 9th, the Board issued a notice of application, an oral hearing in relation to this application, and on the same day the Board stayed the operation of the amendment pending the Board's review of the amendment.


The Board issued four procedural orders in this proceeding on February 16th, March 9th, March 14th, and March 22.


The first of those set today's date to hear this application, and in the last of those procedural orders, the Board indicated that at the commencement of today's hearing it would hear oral submissions on the issue of the relevance to this proceeding of certain materials referred to in AMPCO's submissions relating to the process by which this market amendment rule was formulated and approved.


Could we have the appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:


MR. RODGER:  Morning, Mr. Chairman.  Mark Rodger, appearing as counsel to the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario, and with me is Mr. James Sidlofsky.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Chairman, Alan Mark, appearing for the IESO.  With me are my partner, Ms. Kelly Friedman, and Mr. John Rattray from the IESO.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Mark.


MR. HARPER:  Good morning.  My name is Bill Harper.  I'm here on behalf of VECC, the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, and joining me a bit later will be Mr. Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Harper.


MS. DeMARCO:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is Elisabeth DeMarco.  I'm here on behalf of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, and with me is David Butters, the president of APPrO, and Mr. Cliff Hamal, who will be testifying on behalf of APPrO.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. ERZETIC:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is Josephina Erzetic, and I'm appearing for Ontario Power Generation, and with me is Mr. Jonathan Myers.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. VEGH:  Morning, Mr. Chair, Panel.  George Vegh on behalf of Coral Energy Canada Inc.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Vegh.


MS. AVERY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is Angela Avery.  I'm here from TransCanada, and with me is Mr. Bill Taylor, who will be giving evidence on behalf of TransCanada.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel, Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me to my left is Ms. Martine Band and to my right Mr. Harold Thiessen, and behind me are Mr. David Brown and Peter Fraser.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  How do you want to proceed, Mr. Millar?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure if there may be a number of preliminary matters, Mr. Chair, but perhaps I could start with one.


Board Staff has put together an exhibit list for the prefiled materials, or at least most of the prefiled materials.  There may be some new material that's come in since we prepared this.


We put this together yesterday, I believe, and I understand there may actually be a couple of errors.  Some documents may actually be mis -- attributed to the wrong party.


I know that the IESO had identified at least one document that is under the wrong heading.  Maybe I could ask Mr. Mark or Mr. Rodger, perhaps, if there are any others, and hopefully we can switch them right now.  If there's a bunch of errors, we may have to fix it over the break rather than take the time to do it here.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Mark.


MR. MARK:  Mr. Chair, the one that has come to my attention is under the heading "Intervenors' Prefiled Evidence", the last item there, entry number 10.  While it's listed as having been filed by the IESO, number 10 under the IESO heading, that's actually an AMPCO filing, the time line.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Anything else on this?  Mr. Rodger?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


I would first speak to the question of relevance that the Board asked parties to address at the outset of this proceeding this morning.  In Procedural Order No. 2, the Board invited parties to make submissions on the relevance of the day‑ahead market, also referred to as DAM, and the day‑ahead commitment process, also known as DACP, productions by March 23rd.


On March 21st, AMPCO wrote to the Board setting out a proposal for submissions on the issue of relevance of certain matters.  We advised the Board and parties that AMPCO would be providing a comprehensive submission on the relevance of materials produced by the IESO in relation to a central theme contained in AMPCO's application, and that is that the amendment violates fundamental principles of procedural fairness.


And we suggested that it would be more appropriate in these circumstances for parties to wait until they have received AMPCO's submission, and then respond to that as opposed to having them submit comments on the original filing date required by the Board, which was March 23rd.


Now, in Procedural Order No. 4, the Board accepted this proposal and stated on page 3 that:

"The subject matter of the submissions is relevance, relevant to the criteria set out in section 33(9) of the Act, namely, relevance of the materials and, hence, of the position or argument that the materials support to the Board's consideration of whether and how the amendment (a) is consistent with the purposes of the Act; or (b) unjustly discriminates against or in favour of a market participant or class of market participants." 


On page 3 of Procedural Order No. 4, the Board went on to state that:

"The submission to relevance of the materials includes relevance of DAM and DACP, and other materials are captured as well.  If and to the extent that further or different issues of relevance arise, the Board will provide direction to the parties as required at the relevant time."


That was stated in Procedural Order No. 4.


Now, on March 26th, AMPCO filed its comprehensive submission, which, as we promised, dealt with the central issue that AMPCO has raised since it filed its application back on February 9th; that is, that procedural fairness was compromised by the promulgation of the amendment now before the Board.


This has been a theme raised in every submission that AMPCO has made to the Board to date, not only in our February 9 application, but in our February 26 supplementary filing of evidence and the submission of March 26.  So no one will be surprised by AMPCO's position.


Now, we have circulated the case of Gentles, which was provided to the parties.  And, basically, that case on relevance was meant to illustrate the theme that if evidence has a tendency to make more probable the facts that will help determine the questions before the Board, then it should be submitted by this Board.


And, in our view, the production of materials by the IESO as ordered by this Board, including the production of materials on DACP and DAM, are directly relevant to the consideration of whether the IESO breached its duty of procedural fairness.


And AMPCO witnesses intend to testify to these matters today.  AMPCO's view is that the new information produced by the IESO illustrates even more strongly than AMPCO had articulated in its original application that there have been drivers in this process which have made a flawed process that the IESO has used and that we needed this information in order to be able to connect the dots, as it were, to go to the central theme in AMPCO case.


Now, in our March 26th submission, AMPCO also sets out the facts, based on this new information that we've received, that we intend our witnesses to speak to, and how it links with the anticipated legal framework for AMPCO's position.  We're aware that this is beyond what any party would typically do at this stage in the proceedings.  But AMPCO believed and does believe that it was important to do in this case.


AMPCO believes that the Board and parties should be able to see the entire context of AMPCO's case, including the legal context, to understand our position on relevance.  This is why the March 26 submission was in the nature and form that it was.


Now, in submissions received from my friends yesterday, they are basically saying that the Board has no jurisdiction to deal with the procedural issues as framed by AMPCO.


In our view, Mr. Chairman, today is not the day to determine those jurisdictional questions.  Parties can and will make those submissions in final argument.


To the relevance question, today the Board need only answer whether receiving the document production into evidence will assist the Board in determining the questions before it.  And AMPCO's view is that any evidence that you think is relevant to the written allegations of AMPCO, or any other party, for that matter, should be admissible in this proceeding.


Now, I do want to turn to a couple of themes raised by my friends on the jurisdictional question.  Not to recite the entire legal argument here; you have our submission on the 26th, and that provides the framework, the basis, for our view that procedural fairness is before this Board.  But I do want to respond to a central argument that the few of my friends have raised in their materials.


The IESO, in paragraphs 17-21 of their response, indicate that the IESO decision was purely legislative and, as a result, not subject to any duty of procedural fairness.


In our view, sir, the duty to act fairly does not depend on how the impugned decision or statutory function may be classified.  And this was explained by Mr. Justice Cory in the Newfoundland telephone case which the IESO references at tab 7.


I'll just quote from page 636 of that decision:

"All administrative bodies, no matter what their function, owe a duty of fairness to the regulated parties whose interests they must determine.  This was recognized in the Nicholson v. Haldimand-Norfolk case, where Chief Justice Laskin at page 325 held: 

'...the classification of statutory functions as judicial, quasi-judicial, or administrative is often very difficult, to say the least; and to endow some with procedural protection while denying others any at all would work injustice when the results of statutory decisions raise the same serious consequences for those adversely affected, regardless of the classification of the function in question.'


Now, in support of its proposition that it owed no duty of fairness in this case, the IESO also cites the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in the Inuit decision, in which a decision of the Governor-General in Council with respect to a petition was held not to be subject to procedural review.


In our submission, the Inuit case does not support the IESO.  The Court held that an entirely discretionary power accorded to the Governor-in-Council imparted no duty of fairness.


In contrast, the case before the Board today relates to a regulatory body exercising public powers, and required by statute to engage in a consultative stakeholdering process.


To classify the IESO's role as "legislative" and its procedure thus beyond review is inconsistent with the first principles of administrative law.


In any event, the IESO is required by statute, section 13(2) of the Electricity Act, to establish a process for stakeholder consultation.  This indicates the legislature's intention that the IESO be subject to procedural standards.  It would be absurd were it required to establish a process but then not be expected to adhere to it.


This is consistent with the Inuit decision in which the Court emphasized that reference must be had to any procedural standards imposed or implied by Parliament.


Now, in the Baker case, which Ms. DeMarco had cited, the Supreme Court set out a non-exhaustive list of criteria to be considered in determining the appropriate duty of fairness in a given set of circumstances.  It is these factors, we submit, that apply to the present case, not the rigid and unhelpful classification approach put forward by the IESO.


The criteria in the Baker case included the following:


1.  The nature of the decision being made and the process followed in making it;


2.  The nature of the statutory scheme and the terms of the statute pursuant to which the body operates;


3.  The importance of the decision to the individual or individuals affected; 


4.  The legitimate expectations of the persons challenging the decision;


And 5.  The choices of procedure made by the agency itself.


When you apply those factors to the IESO's decision, it is apparent that the content of the duty of procedural fairness required was shaped directly by the stakeholdering process developed by the IESO as required by the Ontario legislature.  On the first point, the nature of the decision and the process followed in making it, the decision involved a limited number of stakeholders who were directly engaged in the process by the IESO.  Essentially, you had industrial consumers, generators and the marketers primarily being involved in this review, in this process, this consultation.


Secondly, the nature of the statutory scheme.  In this case the legislature requires the IESO to develop a consultative process setting out procedural standards with respect to how it would engage the stakeholders.  There was a stakeholder engagement plan and there were stakeholder engagement principles that were actually approved by this Board.


Thirdly, the importance of the decision to stakeholders.  The decision has significant impact on a limited number of stakeholders.  Generators will receive a significant wealth transfer, estimated at some $200 million per year.  These will be paid by customers, and industrial  customers, and particularly in Northern Ontario, are increasingly sensitive to commodity prices, so the impacts will be felt of any price increase, AMPCO would submit.


Fourthly, legitimate expectations.  AMPCO expected that the IESO would follow its own consultative stakeholdering process and the principles it had represented to it.  A process was established, AMPCO was invited to participate in that process, AMPCO was given standing, and AMPCO relied on the framework.


And fifthly, the choices of procedure made by the tribunal.  Following input from stakeholders, the IESO developed a framework for stakeholder consultation which included goals and objectives, decision criteria, and timelines.


One case that we did circulate yesterday, which I provided to my friends, the Bezaire and Windsor Roman Catholic Separate School Board case, that was a case of the Divisional Court where they quashed the decision of a school board --


MR. KAISER:  Do we have that case, Mr. Rodger?


MR. MARK:  We received it this morning, Mr. Chair.  I don't think this was the case circulated yesterday.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you like this marked as an exhibit, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  I don't think that's necessary.  Sorry to interrupt you.


MR. RODGER:  So in the Bezaire case, the Divisional Court quashed the decision of a school board to close a number of schools without notice.  Critical to the court's decision was the Board's failure to follow Ministry of Education guidelines requiring that boards prepare policies to be followed in considering school closures.  


The court held that even though the Ministry guidelines were not legislative enactments, the Board could [sic] not:

"... free to simply disregard the procedural norms established by the legislature by way of the Ministry's guidelines."


It was clear that the board must set and follow policies with respect to school closures.


Now, Mr. Chairman, the matter before the Board in this case, we would submit, is even more compelling than Bezaire.


MR. KAISER:  Are you alleging here that the IESO failed to follow its guidelines?


MR. RODGER:  That's correct.


Now, in the case before you, the procedural norms have been established not by Ministry guidelines, but by explicit legislative enactment.  The IESO is to consult with stakeholders within the terms of an established framework.  The IESO cannot, under the circumstances, be free to simply disregard the procedural norms as set by the legislature and the legitimate expectations arising from the stakeholders involved in those processes.


So our view is that the idea advanced by the IESO of placing the decision into a purely legislative action is simply not consistent with the current approach to administrative law.


However, parties are free to argue their positions on jurisdiction, we would submit, at the end of the hearing.  And, I suppose, given the nature of the submission that AMPCO made on March 26th, I suppose they have a bit of an advantage, because they already know AMPCO's anticipated framework, but we thought it was appropriate for the Board to understand the whole picture at the outset.


Now, finally, Mr. Chairman, I do want to respond to the IESO's allegations about AMPCO improprieties in this matter, which we submit are both outrageous and completely inappropriate.


The assumption seems to be that AMPCO should have been in a position to file an application and supporting evidence on February 9th, based upon a record of IESO productions that was only completed last week, and this was simply not possible.  Given volume of material and the incredibly tight time lines associated with proceeding, AMPCO has done everything it could do to place its concerns before the Board with as complete a picture and information as it could at the time.


In short, we've submitted the best evidence we could in the circumstances, and we've laid out our areas of concern and grounds in a clear, straightforward way.


AMPCO has been appearing before this Board for about 25 years now, and it has always taken a responsible, temperate approach to every proceeding it has been involved in.


In this proceeding, we understand that the grounds are serious and that a significant amount of money will change hands if this rule is upheld.  But, that being said, AMPCO takes great offence to the IESO's accusations that it would do anything to disrupt the proceeding or act in a way that was contrary to the letter or spirit of the Board's rules of process.


It must be remembered that AMPCO members spend $1 billion every year on electricity in this province, and they are deeply concerned with how events are unfolding, including how this rule was promulgated, so we did want to express our concern, as well.


So, Mr. Chairman, our view is that if you look at the picture of the case that AMPCO is putting forward, particularly on the March 26th submission, that's why we ‑‑ it was in the nature as we delivered it, and the relevance goes to these questions that we've been describing this morning and that we described in that filing on March 26th, and we would submit that today is not the day to make a determination on the jurisdictions questions, that we should proceed to the hearing, and then these questions can be dealt with in final argument.


And those are our respectful submissions, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger, in the Bezaire case ‑ I'm looking at paragraph 65 ‑ the Divisional Court said:

"There was a complete disregard of the consultative process which the Board espoused and the Minister of Education required."


Is it your position that this consultation process, which you say has not been followed, has been approved by the government or approved by this Board?


MR. RODGER:  It's not so much the process itself has been approved.  The IESO is required to establish one or more processes.  So that's up to the IESO's discretion as to the process that it puts in place, but what AMPCO is saying is that the process they did put in place was based on a stakeholder engagement plan, it was based on stakeholder engagement principles, and, based on those representations, AMPCO participated in that process.  And AMPCO believes that the process was not followed; in other words, that the IESO didn't achieve the framework or the principles that it held out.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Mark.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MARK:

MR. MARK:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  The question on this preliminary motion is whether this Board can or should entertain a review of the amendment on the basis of the alleged deficiencies in the stakeholder engagement process.


In our submission, the scope of the Board's review function is restricted to those particular grounds set out in section 33(9) of the legislation.  With respect, the empowering provisions in the legislation provide no scope for the interpretation that a review is permitted on the basis of dissatisfaction by a stakeholder with how the stakeholder engagement process was executed.


Secondly, Mr. Chair, even if there was such scope for review, the scope for that review must be limited to determining whether the statutory requirement set out in the legislation has been met, and that requirement, which appears at -- one moment to turn it up.  It is section 13.2 of the Electricity Act, and this is the only statutory provision which addresses process of the IESO that's relevant here.  The provision is 13.2, and it says:

"The IESO shall establish one or more processes by which consumers, distributors, generators, transmitters and other persons who have an interest in the electricity industry may provide advice and recommendations for consideration by the IESO."


That is the mandate.  And that requirement, on any reading of the record in this case, in our submission, has clearly been met.


Initially, Mr. Chairman, at the end of my submission I will be asking you to strike from the record the March 26th submission made by AMPCO.  The Board required, in its Procedural Order No. 4, that the parties file submissions to assist the Board in determining the question of the relevance of the class of documents in issue to the Board's mandate under section 33(9) of the Act.  


There is no procedural order or rule which authorized, permitted or requested AMPCO on March the 26th to deliver to the Board what was essentially -- not essentially, it was by its terms -- a submission on the merits of this application.


Let me turn first to the statutory interpretation issues. In our submission, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel, a reading of the plain words of the statute clearly indicate that the scope of review is restricted to the criteria set out in section 33(9).


33(9) says -- this is of the Electricity Act:

"If on completion of its review the Board finds that the amendment is inconsistent with the purposes of this Act, or unjustly discriminates against or in favour of a market participant or a class of market participants, the Board shall make an order (a) revoking an amendment on the date specified by the Board; and (b) referring the amendment back to the IESO for further consideration."


I don't think there's any dispute between Mr. Rodger and I as to what those words mean in that section.


If you were to find that section to be applicable as defining the scope of the Board's jurisdiction, I don't think there's any issue that the words exclude the review that is being proposed by AMPCO.


The issue, as framed by AMPCO, is whether those words in section 33(9) are, as we say, exhaustive of the Board's jurisdiction on this hearing, or whether, in addition to the grounds set out in section 33(9), this Board has some other plenary jurisdiction to consider a review of a proposed market rule amendment on some basis other than the two grounds that are specified in section 33(9).


Now, as a simple matter of straightforward interpretation, of looking at the words in their context in the section, and their plain and ordinary meaning, in my submission, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel, there is no doubt that those words constitute the description and grant of the Board's jurisdiction on a review.


It says:  "If on completion of its review, the Board  finds that the amendment...", and lists two things:  "...inconsistent or unjustly discriminates," it may do something.


That section by its terms speaks to the scope of review and the Board's power.  There is nothing anywhere else in section 33 which could reasonably be construed as a grant of this plenary and unbounded jurisdiction that Mr. Rodger says this Board has in connection with the review. Mr. Rodger didn't take a great deal of time this morning dealing with the statutory interpretation question, but he dealt with it in his submission yesterday, and let me address the arguments that he put forward in that submission regarding the statutory interpretation.


Firstly, AMPCO says that section 33(4) of the Electricity Act, by its terms, says that this Board has an unbounded jurisdiction that is separate and apart from what is set out in section 33(9).


But what does 33(4) say?  It says:

"Any person may apply to the Board for a review of an amendment to the market rules by filing an application with the Board within 21 days after the amendment is published under subsection 1."


He says that subsection 6 indicates a broad scope of review.  That says:

"The Board shall issue an order that embodies its final decision within 60 days after receiving an application for review of an amendment."


Juxtapose those provisions with the very deliberate wording of section 33(9).  Is it a reasonable proposition that the legislature intended, in sections 33(4) and 33(6), by those words, to be indicating to the Board the scope of its jurisdiction and the scope of its jurisdiction withstanding the grounds of jurisdiction which are set out in section 33(9)?


In my submission, subsection 6, which says, "The Board shall issue an order that embodies its final decision within 60 days", means exactly that.  And to interpret it as saying the Board may issue any order that it wishes regardless of 33(9), in 60 days, is not a reasonable interpretation.


Section 33 (4), which says, "Any person may apply to the Board for a review of an amendment,” means exactly that.  It says who can apply.  It is intended to say, as it does, that any person may apply.  To suppose that the legislature intended, in such a ridiculously oblique fashion, to have 33(4) interpreted as the grant of jurisdiction, is not reasonable.


Put this in context.  The review of a proposed amendment to the market rules creates an intersection between two distinct bodies.  You have the IESO, and I think everybody agrees it is to the IESO that the legislature delegated the rule-making function with respect to the market.  The OEB has a separate jurisdiction. It's multi-faceted, but has specific rules set out under the Act.  This is the area where those two functions intersect.


It's a vitally important intersection.  It is, in my submission, inconceivable that the legislature would have left the question of the scope of your ability to review the decisions of another body unarticulated and to be drawn from inferences from tortured readings of the legislation.


It seems obvious, in my submission, that the Government wanted to - indeed, they had to - set out in the legislation what is the scope of your review.  This is an important intersection between two bodies who have different functions.


The suggestion that the legislature left it unarticulated, to be drawn from inference, and left that inference to be drawn notwithstanding and in contradistinction to the words in 33(9), is in my submission not a rational interpretation.


Now, in their submission yesterday, AMPCO - because I think it realizes it's faced with some rather compelling arguments on the statutory interpretation - comes up with this proposition.  It says that all section 33(9) does is it specifies what remedy is available to the Board in the event the Board finds either of these two types of deficiencies in the market rule amendment.  In other words, AMPCO says this says nothing about the scope of your power of review; this says, when you're exercising your plenary power of review, if the deficiency you find is inconsistency with the statutory objectives, or is unjust discrimination, then the remedy you can impose is only to send the rule back to the Board for reconsideration.


So what are the two possible conclusions we could draw from that interpretation?  One, of course, is that, golly-gosh, this Board has all sorts of remedies available to it.  It could substitute its own judgment.  It could draft the rule itself, because that's the natural upshot of the argument, that this is really just a remedies section related to these two deficiencies.


Now, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel, I think it is a reasonably clear proposition that no legislature could possibly be taken as having made such an oblique attempt at dealing with the powers.  How reasonable is it to suppose that in setting out in this legislation the nature and scope of this Board's review power with respect to a market rule amendment, it was completely silent on what remedies you generally had, but purported only to speak to what remedies you had for two particular deficiencies?


Legislations such as this, inevitably, and as a matter of common sense in this case, must be specific in delineating what your authority is in terms of your remedy.


And on any plain reading of the legislation, in my submission, section 33(9) was not intended to address only one portion of your remedial power, but clearly must be taken as having been the legislature's statement of the complete scope of your remedial power.


The other inference you can draw, the other conclusion you draw from AMPCO's attempt to characterize this section as a remedies section is this:  AMPCO concedes in its submissions to you filed on March 26 that the only remedy this Board has, as a matter of law, with respect ‑‑ if it finds a flaw in the process, which should give rise to a remedy, AMPCO concedes the only remedy you could have as a matter of law is to send the amendment back for reconsideration.


Now, if that's the case, of course, then the only remedy this Board has in every instance of every review of a market rule is sending it back for reconsideration, because if the Act says with respect to substantive defects your remedy is to send it back, and if the law says that the remedy with respect to process defects is to send it back, then one would think that the legislature would have said, in 33(9), the remedy in all cases is to send it back. 


Why, pray tell, would any intelligent draftsman, knowing and intending that your only remedy in every case should be to send it back, wouldn't section 33(9) speak to only two instances of when it should be sent back and did not purport to address the broader scope of your remedial powers?


In my submission, the rule‑making function in the legislation is clearly placed with the IESO, and there is no reasonable reading of the legislation which could possibly support the notion that this Board has any scope of review any broader than the words of section 33(9).


The other provision of the legislation we should have regard to is the provision I read for you, section 33(6), which says that your decision must be made within 60 days.  Sixty days is, as everyone in this room knows, a very short window for dealing with this type of administrative proceeding.


It implies, in my respectful submission, that the scope of your review must be consistent with the type of expeditious time line which is set out in the legislation, and that time line, in my submission, is inconsistent with a review of the type which is proposed by AMPCO.  


AMPCO, as you know from the submissions, is undertaking and proposes that this Board undertakes a comprehensive forensic review not of the economics and econometrics that support the market rule amendment, but undertake a forensic review of the entire history of the IESO's dealing with the ramp rate multiplier and the over one year of stakeholder engagement for this process.


It has put before you, in three submissions, arguments that go in detail as to virtually every meeting, every phone call, every e‑mail, every deliberation of IESO staff and IESO board members.  That, in my submission, is inconsistent with the 60‑day time limit.  


Look at it this way.  Ask yourself this question.  There are two ways of looking at it.  If the legislature had intended this Board to have this plenary power of review for you to determine the grounds upon which you would or could review the amendment, and gave you the power to determine how complex or in-depth or detailed that review would be, they would have granted you concurrently the power to set the time frame and the process for that examination to take place.


In my respectful submission, it makes no sense for the legislature on the one hand to have said, You've got to do this in 60 days, and, on the other hand, to say, But you know what?  Forget 33(9).  You can go on any examination of what the IESO did that you want.


In my submission, that is not a reasonable interpretation.


We say section 33(9) is exhaustive of the Board's jurisdiction, and this limitation is consistent with the institutional competencies and roles that are assigned by the legislature.  The IESO is not a tribunal.  It is a corporation.  It acts through its board of directors.  It is a significantly different sort of body than this Board or any other adjudicative board.


The legislature clearly assigned to that body the role of rule‑making.  The IESO has accountability to the Minister under the legislation.  It is the IESO board and the Minister who, if my submission, are clearly given the jurisdiction to oversee the rule‑making process and to deal with the stakeholder engagement process.


By necessary implication, the role of this Board in the review must have some limitations.  It is not reasonable to suppose that the legislature intended, when it gave you a right of review -‑ and I say this with the greatest of respect.  It is not reasonable to suppose that when the government gave you a right of review, it gave you a right of review which was coextensive with the powers and authorities of the IESO in the first instance.


If Mr. Rodger is right that your jurisdiction is not circumscribed by section 33(9), but it is a plenary jurisdiction which either stems from 34(4) or some other provision in the legislation, then you have an unfettered right to substitute your view of market rules for that of the IESO.  And with the greatest of respect to this Board, that is an interpretation which just can't be borne by the legislation and the legislative scheme.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Mark, can I stop you there?


MR. MARK:  Sure.


MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose you're right about all that.  You pointed out at the beginning that the legislature in 13(2) required your client to set out a process, establish a process, and it did.


MR. MARK:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Now, let's suppose it didn't follow the process and let's suppose there was an expectation by the parties that it would follow the process.  When we look at cases like Baker that Mr. Rodger cited, if there is a legitimate expectation that is found to exist, it will affect the content of the duty of fairness, and he's just quoted this Bezaire case where the decision on the school board was reversed by the Divisional Court.


Are you saying that 33(9) trumps all of those natural-justice rights that would flow out of a failure to follow process?









MR. MARK:  Certainly with respect to this Board, yes. That's the -- I'm sorry.


MR. KAISER:  You're arguing, somewhat similar to Mr. Vegh on behalf of Coral, that this Board is not the Divisional Court.  If Mr. Rodger has a problem in terms of the process, he ought to go somewhere else?


MR. MARK:  Two submissions.  I question whether he has some justiciable right, given the legislative nature of the function being carried out by the IESO.  I submit he has no right to any of the protections and rights that he asserts.  But, if he does, that is a function that must be undertaken and discharged by the courts.  In my submission, you cannot read 33(9) as giving this Board the jurisdiction to remedy process deficiencies which give right to common-law issues regarding process.


Institutionally, that's not your bailiwick.  It isn't.  You're talking about, essentially, a judicial review of a decision of the IESO board of directors.  With the greatest of respect, that's an issue for the courts.


Given the legislative scheme, the powers you have, and the expertise in this tribunal, to have this tribunal sit in judicial review of the process of the IESO is, in my respectful submission, not an available interpretation of the statute.


Secondly, Mr. Kaiser, I would say this.  Even if you have jurisdiction to look at the process issues, that jurisdiction can be no greater than to assess whether there has been compliance with the mandate of the Act, which is to, in the words of section 13.2:

"Establish one or more processes by which consumers, distributors, generators, transmitters and other persons who have an interest in the electricity industry may provide advice and recommendations for consideration by the IESO."


That is the maximum statutory obligation we had.  There can be no dispute on this record that AMPCO had opportunity to make its advice known to the Board and to make its recommendations known to the IESO, its staff, and its Board, and there can be no doubt that it did so.  It submitted a nine-page critique, accompanied by a covering letter, submitted that to the Board in addition to a succession of communications with IESO staff and the Board, indicating clearly what its advice and recommendations were.


That's, at best, Mr. Chairman, the scope of the review.  You cannot, in my submission, leap from section 13.2 and use that to open the door to:  Let's look at every phone call; let's look at every meeting.  The legislature requires you have to have a process so that you can hear the advice and recommendations, and that was done.


On that subject, Mr. Chairman, I would note that the legislation by its terms excludes the application of the SPPA.  And I would say on the interpretation issue, that's another indication of what I say was the legislature's intention to grant a very wide scope to the IESO.


And on the institutional competency point I was addressing, Mr. Chairman, you have to look at the review that AMPCO is proposing and contrast it with the function being performed by the IESO.


The allegation here, essentially, is bias, it is close-mindedness; that the IESO had a preference for a particular outcome and did not heed what they said, did not agree with them at the end of the day.


The function being performed by the IESO is not an administrative function carried out by a tribunal.  All these cases deal with the making of decisions which are adjudicative of rights or adjudicative of disputes between parties.  This is not that.  There are no legal rights involved here.


This is the quintessential, as the courts call it, polycentric policy-making, public policy-making issues.  The IESO board of directors, the members of it, are inevitably going to be influenced in what they do -- and there's nothing improper in this -- in their view over what are the appropriate policies for the market, what are the appropriate policy issues.  And they will have views as to what those are.


It would be, in my submission, impossible for this Board to conduct a review of the IESO Board's process and decision-making on the basis of:  Did these folks have a bias towards a particular outcome?


That's a question which makes no sense in the context of the mandate of the IESO Board.  That's what they were put there for.  They have representatives on the Board from various constituencies for precisely making those determinations.  To try and layer onto that process the process of making policy choices, the process of weighing the economic interests of the various parties -- you will have many of these cases, as you do here, the economic position of generators on one side, the economic interests of a group of consumers on the other side, and it is clear that this decision has the potential to benefit some people and to disadvantage other people.


There may be -- although we say not in this case -- but there may be in these decisions winners and losers.  Is that a paradigm on top of which you can lay what AMPCO says is an obligation that you folks have to determine whether the IESO Board had a bias or a predisposition?  It's not.  Those policy-laden choices are not amenable to the sort of review that is proposed here.


And the law recognizes that.  The law says clearly that where what is involved is a delegated legislative authority, a rule-making function, which I don't think there's any dispute is clearly the authority that the IESO was engaged in here, if that is the nature of the function, then there is no power of review of those decisions on the basis of process, because the courts recognize that inherently those decisions are not amenable to the type of review which is proposed here.


I want to read to the Panel the excerpt that we quoted in our submission, but it bears repeating.  That's at page 5, paragraph 19, of our written submission.  And this is reference to, in the first instance, to the Supreme Court of Canada in the Inuit Tapirisat case.  They said at paragraph 19:

"Let me accept that in the sphere of the so-called quasi-judicial the rules of natural justice run, and that in the administrative or executive field there is a general duty of fairness.  Nevertheless, these considerations do not seem to me to affect the process of legislation, whether primary or delegated.  Many of those affected by delegated legislation and affected very substantially are never consulted in the process of enacting the legislation, and yet they have no remedy.  I do not know if any implied right to be consulted or make objections or any principle upon which the courts may enjoin the legislative process at the suit of those who contend that insufficient time for consultation and consideration has been given."


Next paragraph, reference to a recent Québec Superior Court case:

"The jurisprudence is very clear that the principles that have been set out by the Supreme Court with respect to the non-applicability of the doctrine of legitimate expectations..." 

- and I add parenthetically that that's very much AMPCO's case here – 

“and of the rules of natural justice and procedural fairness to the exercise of legislative authority, extend as well to delegated legislative authority and, thus, to regulatory authority."


Now, in that context, Mr. Chairman, let me deal directly with the Bezaire case, which you referred to in your question to me of a few moments ago.  That is a significantly different case.


In that case, the legislation itself consisted of a statutory scheme and process for the making of the decision.  In other words, the statute itself says:  This is and here are the mandatory ways in which you must carry out this process.


And the court held that in those circumstances, the school board was not permitted to not comply with those requirements.  So it's a very different case, where the process is mandated and is part and parcel of this power of decision.  The school board had no power of decision with respect to schools' closures, other than through the process which was described in the legislation.  


Here we have the IESO board that clearly has a power to make market rule amendments, and that power is not contained in, controlled by, or circumscribed by any particular procedure.  It has the authority to act as a board of directors, and this sort of corporation would.


There is, at best, a separate requirement that it have a process for receiving advice and recommendations, but that is a very different scenario, and the Bezaire case is simply inapplicable.


Now, the other case that Mr. Rodger referred you to this morning was the -- this is the case that is at tab 7 in our brief, the Newfoundland Telephone Co. case.  And you may ask yourself, Well, how does the passage that Mr. Rodger quoted to you stand side by side with the passage from the Inuit Tapirisat case which I quoted to you?  


That's because the Newfoundland Telephone Co. does not deal with the same situation that there was the Inuit Tapirisat case and does not deal with the situation we have here.


In the Newfoundland Telephone Co. case there was a tribunal.  There was an administrative tribunal, and it convened a hearing.  And if you turn to page 644 of the decision, this is the decision of Mr. Justice Cory.  The last full paragraph at page 644 says:

"Once the order directing the holding of the hearing was given, the utility was entitled to procedural fairness."


This is not a hearing case.  This is not an administrative tribunal case.  This is not an adjudicative case.  The law is clear that in its rule‑making function, the IESO was not obligated to follow any particular process, and, just as the government in making legislation and just as all rule‑makers, there is simply not available as a matter of law the type of review contended for here.


MR. KAISER:  Can I stop you there?


MR. MARK:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  It seems to me the difference is that here the legislature, as you point out, in 13.2 says you, IESO, establish a process.  Are you now saying that the legislature didn't care whether that process was followed or not?


MR. MARK:  They may or may not have cared whether that legislative process is followed, but, in my submission, that's not an issue for this Board.


AMPCO may or may ‑‑ AMPCO clearly has a right to go to the Minister and complain about this and ask for something else, and to try and hold the IESO accountable.  They may have -- I say they probably don't, but they may have a right of judicial review; but what we're talking of here is what is permitted in this hearing in the scope of section 33(9).  


And this is not a Bezaire situation, where you have a process which is mandated as part and parcel of the rule‑making function, and section 13.2 doesn't specify a particular process.  It leaves it to the discretion of the IESO board as to how that's going to be carried out.


The only -- if Mr. Rodger is right, then he has the ability to engage you in a discussion of what should the consultative process at the IESO look like.  In my submission, that can't have been contemplated by the legislature when they enacted that provision, and, at the very best, Mr. Chair, at the very best the test is, even if you have a power of review:  Did they have an opportunity to provide advice and recommendations?  And they did so in spades.


So the short answer is, Mr. Chairman, in my submission, if there is any remedy available to AMPCO with respect to the alleged breaches of fairness - and I emphasize the "alleged", for reasons you know from us already - then it is not in the scope of this review that the Board has before it today.


Mr. Chairman, I echo, on the question of interpretation, the comments that were in Mr. Vegh's submissions you will no doubt hear from him.


In 33(9), there is a reference to "unjust discrimination."  In my submission, taken in context, that can only be a reference to economic discrimination.  It's not a reasonable reading of section 33(9) to say that can include any other sort of discrimination.  


And, in fact, if you look at the words, if you look at the words, in my submission, it becomes abundantly clear that that cannot be the interpretation, because section 33(9) says that your authority to send it back is engaged:

"...if the Board finds the amendment is inconsistent with the purposes of the Act, or if the amendment unjustly discriminates against/in favour of market participant."


So it's not the process.  Section 33(9) doesn't say:  If you find the IESO has been discriminatory in how it's gone about its process, you can send it back.  


The restriction is clear.  There must be a finding that the amendment itself is unjustly discriminatory, and that admits of only one conclusion, that it is the economic impact of the rule and not process issues which are relevant to the determination.


Now, Mr. Chairman, I've taken a lot of time already.  I think you understand the submissions.  There are additional points made in our written filing, but I think you have the essence of our position.


What we ask the Board to do is to, in accordance with Procedural Order No. 4, make a ruling that the documents produced pursuant to the previous order of the Board and which were to be the subject of these submissions are not relevant.


And, further, I ask the Board to issue a direction excluding any evidence and argument on the allegations of the process deficiencies from this hearing.


Additionally, Mr. Chair, as I said at the outset, I'm asking the Board to strike the March 26th submission from the record.  There was no authority for that filing, and the filing, in my respectful submission, is an abuse of this Board's process.


The Board has issued procedural orders and it has rules which govern the filings.  AMPCO simply decided that, rather than comply and give you what you had requested in Procedural Order No. 4, it was going make a submission on the merits.  With the greatest of respect to my friend Mr. Rodger, his attempt to characterize this submission as really an elucidation of the framework for analysis is just not right.  If you have AMPCO's March 26 submission, Mr. Chair, let's start at the very first page, the overview.  It sets out what their position is.  It says:

"AMPCO submits that the three times ramp rate market rule amendment should be revoke bid the Ontario Energy Board and referred back to the IESO for stakeholder consultation, based on the following grounds." 

Well, who asked them to make that submission?  Then it goes on through A, B, C, D and E.  And it is the merits of their application.


The only reference is in (d):

"The materials produced by the IESO pursuant to the OEB procedural orders are relevant to  AMPCO's application."


It doesn't say that that's what this addresses; that's just one of the five things they propose to address.


It then goes on for almost 30 pages addressing the merits of the case.  Then we finally see on page 31, under the heading D, Relevance of Productions.  So everything up to 30 was all on the submission of the merits.  Then we get to the discussion of relevance of productions, and that goes on for a page or so.  And then we see, over at page 32, the order sought and what Mr. Rodger says is his submission said to be responsive to your request for submissions on relevance.


His order sought is 116:

"AMPCO respectfully requests that the OEB revoke the amendment on a date to be specified by the Board and refer the amendment back to the IESO for further consideration and a fair stakeholder consultation process."


What about 117?

"In the event that the Board does not grant the relief sought, AMPCO requests that pursuant to section 33 (6) of the OEB Act, the Board orders a stay of the market rule amendment pending appeal."


This is AMPCO's final argument in this case.  It wasn't sought; they had no authority to file it; it does not even purport to be responsive to the Procedural Order No. 4; and it shouldn't be part of the record.


In our submission, just to give you an indication of how prejudicial and unfair this is, we gave you two instances where their characterization of events is wholly misleading.  They say in their submission that there was, for example, a case where Mr. LeMay asked that his objections be communicated to the Board and that wasn't done.  We gave you the evidence/references that show not only was it done; the draft was sent to Mr. LeMay.  Mr. LeMay approved the wording, and it was provided in that form to the Board.


And we give other examples.  The allegations set out by AMPCO in the March 26 submission are, with the greatest of respect to my friend, with the greatest of respect to the Board, serious allegations of bias and essentially procedural misconduct against the folks at the IESO.  What Mr. Rodger has done is, before you have made your ruling on the relevance of these documents, before you made the ruling, he has made his argument as if these were admitted into the record.  He has sought to circumvent your process and do exactly what was not supposed to happen.  You set up Procedural Order No. 4, and this opportunity this morning, to deal with the question of the relevance of these documents before the parties could treat them as being in the record and before the parties could go off and make allegations of misconduct based upon them.  They haven't observed that rule, and it is grossly unfair to the good folks at the IESO to have that submission, which is full of conjure [sic], allegations and untruths, on this record, when it is in their defiance of the Board's process.


All done, I might say, Mr. Chairman, without even having the courtesy, let alone compliance with legal requirements, to wait until they've actually put these suggestions to the witnesses in cross-examination.  I have never in my years participating in this Board or other administrative tribunals seen a situation where there are allegations of personal misconduct and bias.  And counsel makes an argument to the Board asking that inferences about bad faith be drawn, without even having put the propositions to the witness on the stand face to face.


This submission ought not to be permitted to stand.  The public of Ontario should not be able to go to the public records of this Board and find these scandalous allegations in this document as filed.


Those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Mark.  We'll take the morning break at this point and come back in 20 minutes.


--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.    


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:11 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Ms. DeMarco, are you next?


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe I am.  Is that on?  There we go.


Thank you, Mr. Chair.  If you will permit me a quick indulgence, I'm reminded of an old adage here, that there are two things that people should never see in the process of being made.  One of them is sausage.  The other one is legislation.  And I think we can now safely add to that list market rule amendments.


With that introduction, good morning, and thank you so much for the opportunity to make these submissions on relevance.


APPrO members, the Association of Power Producers of Ontario members, represent over 95 percent of electricity-generation capacity in the province of Ontario, all of which is affected by the market rule amendment in question.


We have filed written submissions on the issue of relevance and a supporting book of authorities.  Does the Panel have those materials before them?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, we do.


MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder, since the actual exhibit list has yet to be marked, whether it's necessary to mark those documents as exhibits at this point in time.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if you would like, we can certainly mark these as exhibits.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Go ahead.


MR. MILLAR:  And, I'm sorry, Ms. DeMarco, I was working on something else.  Could you remind me which documents we're talking about?


MS. DeMARCO:  It's the book of authorities/compendium of documents for submissions on relevance and the actual submissions of APPrO, which is included at tab 17 of that book.


MR. MILLAR:  It's all one document?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be Exhibit K1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  BOOK OF AUTHORITIES/COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS FOR SUBMISSIONS ON RELEVANCE, AND THE ACTUAL SUBMISSIONS OF APPRO.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  The Board has crystallized the relevance matter to be heard this morning in Procedural Order 4.  Specifically this morning, the Board is called upon to determine the relevance of certain DAM, DACP materials and related stakeholder issues, and the relevance of those materials to the Board's consideration of whether or not the three times ramp rate market rule amendment is inconsistent with the purposes of the Act or unjustly discriminates against or in favour of a market participant or a class of market participants.


APPrO strongly submits that the DAM, DACP and related market evolution material are simply not relevant to the Board's consideration of this issue under section 33(9), and the Board should be very reticent to consider these materials that obfuscate its statutorily mandated considerations under section 33(9).


My friend, Mr. Rodger, has indicated that the sheer issue before you today is relevance.  He's omitted to say:  Relevance to what?


It is our submission that the Board's decision needs to be grounded in relevance to the two issues in the issues list that the Board put forward in Procedural Order No. 1.


APPrO's position on relevance is supported by three elements.  The first is the wording and statutory interpretation of section 33(9) of the Electricity Act.  The second is the distinct nature of the scope of a Board review of a market rule amendment under section 33 and a Board review of IESO fees under section 19, and the third is past Board decisions and the common law.


Following these submissions, I would also like to comment very briefly on the materials filed by AMPCO.


So starting first in the legislation, the book of authorities at tab 1 sets out the relevant wording of section 33(9).  Section 33(9) provides:

"If on completion of its review the Board finds that the amendment is inconsistent with the purposes of the Act or unjustly discriminates against or in favour of a market participant or class of market participants, the Board shall make an order revoking the amendment on a date specified by the Board and refer the amendment back to the IESO for further consideration."


As a result, the Board's review is statutorily limited. It is statutorily limited to a review of the market rule amendment itself and whether or not that market rule amendment is inconsistent with the purposes of the Act, whether or not that market rule amendment unjustly discriminates or is in favour of a class of market participants.


Both of these concise issues are reflected in Appendix C to the Board's Procedural Order No. 1, which is outlined at tab 3 of our materials.


Therefore, APPrO submits that the only materials relevant to the Board in this proceeding relate to the market rule amendment consistency with the purposes of the Act and unjust discrimination.


AMPCO seeks to expand the express wording set out in section 33 in order to allow AMPCO to make lengthy allegations and submissions on procedural fairness surrounding largely the IESO stakeholdering process.  


APPrO submits that this is well beyond the issues included in the Board's notice, and, should such issues have been fairly considered by the Board, they would have necessarily had to be included in the issues associated with the notice of application.


Further, APPrO submits that the broad allegations and procedural issues that AMPCO seeks to challenge do not fall within the two‑part test stipulated by the legislature, and, therefore, the materials related to these extra jures considerations are not relevant to this Board.


This is further supported by statutory interpretation of section 33.  Using the statutory interpretation maxim of expressio unius est exclusio alterius, there was a presumption that should the legislature have wanted the Board to consider procedure, to consider stakeholdering, to consider the broad and expansive list of issues that AMPCO would like the Board to consider, it would have specifically indicated the same in the context of section 33(9).


There is a presumption, therefore, that since those broad and expansive considerations are not included in the wording of section 33(9), then the Board should not and cannot include such considerations.


A full expansion on the rule of expressio and the construct of statutory interpretation is included at tab 14 of our materials.


This rule is also called the "implied exclusion" rule, and certainly in the case at hand, APPrO submits that if the legislature wanted the Board to consider anything other than the consistency with the purposes and unjust discrimination of a market rule amendment, it would have indicated the same in the context of the wording of section 33(9).


This is also supported by an examination of the procedural history surrounding the development of the Board's jurisdiction to review a market rule amendment.


If I can ask you to turn to tab 10 of our materials.  Tab 10 includes an excerpt from the final report of the market design committee to the Honourable Jim Wilson issued on January 29th, 1999.  And at page 6, the MDC provided recommendations for the scope of a Board review in the context of a market rule amendment.  


And, in fact, the MDC suggested a three‑part test, a test including consistency with a purpose, violation of any provision of the legislation, unduly discriminatory and otherwise unreasonable.


It is very noteworthy and telling that the wording of section 33(9) that the legislature incorporated into the final legislation does not include the third part of the test and, rather, is very focussed and narrowly determined and scoped as to only allow for a determination of consistency with the purposes and unjust discrimination. 


On that basis, APPrO submits that the historical development of section 33(9) also supports the exclusion of the materials and the focussed interpretation of the Board's jurisdiction under section 33(9).


Despite the express wording, and despite the history of the development of the express wording, AMPCO asserts that the Board has a very broad plenary review jurisdiction to review market rule amendments and that the Board can essentially consider any issue in the context of a section 33(9) review.


APPrO submits that the consequences of that assertion are absolutely absurd when one considers the very strict 60-day time limit imposed on the Board by section 33(6).


Section 33(6) is also excerpted in our materials at tab 1, and provides that:

"The Board shall issue an order that embodies its final decision within 60 days after receiving an application for review of an amendment."


This provision requires the Board to receive and issue all notices, receive all evidence, hear all argument, and make a decision and file its final order, within 60 days of receipt of the application.  To argue that the Board could undertake all of these tasks in relation to an unlimited issues list is absolutely absurd, in our submission, and the absurdity of that consequence, is also supportive of the presumption that the interpretation cannot be supported.  That rule, often called the golden rule, or the absurdity rule, is also provided in tab 14 of our materials It provides that:

“In avoiding absurdity, the interpretation adapted must be one the words are reasonably capable of bearing."


APPrO submits that allowing for an unlimited issues list in the context of section 33(9) is clearly not an interpretation that the words of the statute are reasonably capable of bearing in light of the 60-day time limit and the nature of the statutory scheme.


On the we submit that the wording of the statutory interpretation and the wording of section 33(9) do not support the submission and consideration of the materials in question, as they are not relevant to the Board under the wording of section 33(9).


Moving on to my second submission, which is that there is a distinct nature of the Board's jurisdiction under section 19.  A fees case, an IESO fees case, versus section 33, which is the Board's jurisdiction, under a market rule amendment.  


At tab 11 of our materials, we highlight a past decision of the Board in EB-2004-0477, in which the Board considered the distinction between section 19 and section 33.  If I can turn you to page 10 of that decision.


Starting midway through the first paragraph,
"The Board finds that":

"However, the Board found that at Issues Day, section 19 provided sufficient jurisdiction to review the merits of MEP” -- market evolution initiatives.  “The Board adopted this view later in the proceeding and in fact has subsequently argued the merits of MEP programs.  Also the evidence of the IESO and other participants establish that delaying such reviews until the promulgation of market rules could be cumbersome and potentially unworkable, as market rules could be promulgated at any stage in the MEP initiative.  

"The Board finds that it may review the merits of MEP initiative during the annual section 19 Budgetary review cycle.  This review does not prejudice or pre-empt any review of a market rule amendment.  The section 19 review results in an approved budgetary and expenditure plan for the IESO for year-ahead.  While the Board does not contemplate extraordinary intrayear section 19 reviews of unanticipated MEP initiatives, such reviews are available as necessary when intrayear projects cannot be funded either from available surplus or redirected funds."


Clearly, in this decision, the Board finds that it is capable of reviewing market evolution programs and related issues in the context of section 19.  The substance of the materials that AMPCO seeks to have admitted into this market rule amendment proceeding relate to stakeholdering and market evolution programs, including the DAM and the DACP.  Clearly, this has been and is appropriately considered by the Board in section 19 cases to review the IESO fees.


In fact, the Board has considered stakeholdering issues and DAM/DACP issues in a number of section 19 IESO fees cases, specifically, in each of RP2001-0046, EB-2004-0077, EB-2005-0499, the Board has considered and ruled upon stakeholdering and related MEP initiatives under that jurisdiction.


Moreover, the Board has specifically ruled on the concurrent timing of the DACP and DAM and the ramp rate changes in the context of a past decision under section 19 on a matter and in a proceeding to which AMPCO was a party.  If I can ask you to turn to tab 12.


Tab 12 provides for Board's decision in EB-2005-0499.  At Appendix E of that decision, near the very end, starting at page 7, the Board's ruling and approval of the settlement agreement on capital spending is set out.  Starting at section B at the bottom of that page, the agreement indicates:

"Timelines for current market issues and initiatives.  In its prefiled evidence, the IESO has identified the following priority current market issues:  

A, reliability issues and initiatives, including:

1.  DACP.

2.  Demand response.

3.  Internal resource response to dispatch.  

4.  Internal intertide scheduling.

B, market pricing and market initiatives, including the appropriate ramp rate multiplier to be employed in the market schedule.”


That section goes on.  Later on on page 8, it indicates:

"In relation to reliability issues and initiatives identified in A above, the IESO is committed to implementing these initiatives prior to summer of 2006 subject to the general understanding of the parties set out below.  In relation to all market pricing issues and initiatives identified in B above..." 

- for the Board's note, that includes the ramp rate – 

“...the IESO is committed to implementing these initiatives in 2006 in parallel with the implementation of the DACP, to the extent feasible, without jeopardizing the June 1, 2006, DACP in-service date and subject to the general understanding of the parties below."


The general understanding of the parties below goes on to talk about timelines.  It talks about stakeholdering the processes which they are required to follow.  It talks about the IESO's abilities to access required resources and vendors, and the availability of human resources.  But clearly, in this context the parallel timing of the DACP and the ramp rate multiplier was not only contemplated by the parties, it formed part of a settlement agreement and part of a decision in a proceeding to which AMPCO was a party.


So, clearly, the context of those type of issues being reviewed under section 19 has and is ‑‑ has been and is appropriately a part of the Board's jurisdiction under that section; namely, section 19.


In fact, it may very well be that the Board is functus officio on the parallel DACP ramp rate timing issues and that the applicant wants to redetermine those issues here.


APPrO, therefore, submits that the stakeholdering and market evolution program issues are not relevant to a section 33(9) review of market rule amendment, and, rather, have been and are appropriately the subject of a section 19 IESO fees review.  The Board should, therefore, not consider these materials, as they are not relevant to the Board's review in the instant proceeding.


Moving on to our third submission in relation to the common law, and, more precisely, in response to the question from Mr. Chair to Mr. Mark relating to the jurisdiction of the Board and the duty of fairness, I understand that the applicant's focus on the materials in question is all related to the common law duty to be fair.  


You have asked specifically whether or not the Board can and should review the IESO's duty to be fair in the context of a section 33(9) application.  You have asked whether or not there is a duty to be fair.


Well, there very well may be a minimal common-law duty of fairness applicable to the IESO in its consultations.  That is not for this Board to determine in the context of section 33(9) of the Electricity Act.  That determination is properly made by the Divisional Court pursuant to a judicial review application.


I will not, for the sake of efficiency, attempt to rehash the materials that Mr. Mark has gone through.  Needless to say, the broad and expansive common-law duty of fairness that the applicant makes out here is not supported by the common law, which is excerpted at a number of tabs in our materials. 


Specifically, the overview of the duty of fairness can be found in our materials setting out Sara Blake's Administrative Law in Canada, at tab 6, specifically page 12 and page 13, and the cases included in our materials, namely, Baker, Inuit Tapirisat and the Pembroke case.


In the alternative, if the Board considers any elements of procedural fairness, APPrO argues and submits here that any documents related to the IESO's procedural fairness are absolutely irrelevant to the Board's current review of a market rule under section 33(9), and the comprehensive initial record strongly indicates that AMPCO had the right to be heard.


Moving on to a discussion of a number of elements and submissions included in the documents filed by the applicant on Monday, the 26th, if I can ask the Board to specifically turn to paragraph 86 of the applicant's factum or allegations, it indicates that the fact that a decision is administrative and affects the rights, privileges or interests of an individual or group triggers the application of the duty of fairness.  


I'm sure it's just an oversight on the part of my friend, but the quote is not supported by the reference, Baker, at paragraph 20.  And if I can ask you to turn to tab 7, which includes the Baker case, at page 13, specifically, the quote says:

"Both parties agree that at that a duty of procedural fairness applies to H and C decisions.  The fact that a decision is administrative and affects the rights and privileges of an individual is sufficient to trigger the application of the duty of fairness."


The group association mentality, the associated inclusion of the duty of fairness owed to the group, was not what was considered here in the context of Baker.  


Similarly, in the applicant's allegations, it uses headings of the Electricity Act to support its interpretation of the Electricity Act.  APPrO submits that this is clearly prohibited and inconsistent with section 8 of the Interpretation Act that indicates that headings are irrelevant to the interpretation of any materials.


Finally, in response to the numerous plethora of issues raised procedurally by AMPCO in this proceeding, before an adjudicative board, in the context of a hearing, AMPCO asks to have the evidentiary matters dealt with summarily now than following the hearing of other parties, as provided for by the Board in the Procedural Order.  


Clearly, APPrO submits that this is not consistent with the Board's Procedural Order and would not afford other parties the right to be heard.


AMPCO also alleges a reversal of the burden of proof.  APPrO submits that clearly the burden of proof should remain very squarely on the applicant in the context of the two elements of the test set out in section 33(9).


Third, AMPCO has had disregard for the Board's direction in Procedural Order No. 4 in filing not submissions on relevance, but, rather, in its own words, "the framework of AMPCO's anticipated final argument", with allegations unsupported by the record.  And in this regard, I will defer to Mr. Mark's submissions, but agree quite strongly that the appropriate remedy should be to exclude this.


Fourth, AMPCO has not complied with the Board's practice directions for appeals to the Ontario Energy Board, and the appeal in this instance does not take the appropriate format.


Similarly, AMPCO has not complied with the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure, specifically rule 13 and rule 14, among others.  In particular, AMPCO makes scurrilous and unfounded personal allegations pertaining to two individuals that would be within APPrO's membership.  Rule 14.03 requires a minimum of 15 days' notice of any such allegations.


Fifth, AMPCO has attempted to unilaterally reframe the Board's issues list as set out in Procedural Order No. 1. Specifically, in their argument at paragraphs 84, pages 23 and 24, it argues for four new issues to be considered by the Board instead of the issues stipulated by the Board in its order in Procedural Order No. 1.


Sixth and finally, AMPCO has made a bold and unsupported assertion that no party is prejudiced by the manner in which AMPCO has filed its prefiled material, the filing on relevance, or Dr. Murphy's report.  It is with great exception that APPrO submits it is scandalous for AMPCO to argue at this point that there is no prejudice resulting from unsupported allegations presented as fact prior to being tested, particularly when they pertain to the character and propriety of conduct of individuals.


These matters should clearly be struck from the record.


In light of the foregoing elements and these numerous procedural defects in this process, an adjudicative process in a hearing before the Board, APPrO reserves the right to seek any further procedural remedies to ensure that its procedural rights are protected in this process.


In conclusion, then, on our submissions, we wish to highlight that APPrO has not opposed the IESO's production and Board review of materials which are the subject of Procedural Order No. 2 and No. 3 but strongly submits that any DAM, DACP or related market evolution or stakeholdering materials are not relevant to, are beyond the scope of the Board's important jurisdiction to review a market rule amendment under section 33(9).


Many of these issues have been and are appropriately the subject of past Board decisions, under section 19 of the Electricity Act, and should not now be revisited in the context of the Board's focussed and measured and time-limited review powers for the three times ramp rate market rule amendment under section 33(9) of the Act.


Finally, APPrO submits that the materials are of no probative value whatsoever to the issues list defined by the Board.  The Board should not consider these materials and allegations that otherwise obfuscate its statutorilymandated issues that it must consider.In the alternative, should the Board decide to omit the materials, APPrO submits that the Board should afford no weight whatsoever to them.


Thank you.  Those are our submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Who's next?  Mr. Vegh?


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. ERZETIC:


MS. ERZETIC:  Mr. Chair, we haven't filed formal  written submissions.  We just wanted to have an opportunity to speak.


Ontario Power Generation supports the arguments that you've just heard by my friend Ms. DeMarco on behalf of APPrO, and sir, I would take you back, just to highlight some of the submissions that you've heard already ,to the section that's under consideration before you, section 33(9).


Our submission to you in that regard is that the Board should be very mindful in this case of the test that is before you.  You have heard a lot of arguments this morning dealing with other sections of the Act and how those sections should be read in conjunction with section 33(9).  And, sir, I would say that this is the section that is the predominant test before you, and those other sections you've been referred to, 33(4), also I believe 19(4) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, should be read in the context of the test that is before you with respect to this proceeding.  Just to reiterate that on completion of its review, if the Board finds that the amendment is inconsistent with the purposes of this act or unjustly discriminates against or in favour of a market participant or class of market participants, the Board shall make an order revoking the amendment and referring the amendment back to the IESO for further consideration.


That is, in our submission, the test that the Board needs to concern itself with.  In this case it is whether the amendment itself, the amendment being the three times ramp rate market rule change, is inconsistent with the purpose of this Act or unjustly discriminates; not the process.


In that regard, if the legislature - and you've heard these submissions as well - had intended the process to be part of this test, they would have included that in the wording of the test.


Those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Vegh.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. VEGH:

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  I filed written submissions on behalf of Coral, and I plan to refer to my submissions in my argument.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you like these marked, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Thank you.


MR. VEGH:  There are extra copies with Mr. Kerr behind me, if anyone else in the room doesn't have a copy of the written submissions.


MR. MILLAR:  It's Exhibit K1.2, and those are the materials filed by Coral.


EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  MATERIALS FILED BY CORAL ENERGY


MR. VEGH:  Panel, there have been many preliminary skirmishes on this file, and, frankly, I'm fairly new to it; I can't follow all of the twists and turns.  I'm sure the Board will sort them out.


However, there is this preliminary issue of the relevance of the market rule amendment process that I think it's important it not be lost in the noise of the other issues, because it does raise a key issue that I think represents a fork in the road both in this particular application.  


I don't think it's overstating it to say that this represents a fork in the road on the ongoing institutional relationship among the OEB, the IESO and other agencies in this province, so I think it is an important issue that should be addressed up front.


First, in respect to this case in particular, my client Coral is a generator and wholesale marketer and will address the substantive issues of the three times ramp rate issue through APPrO, the substantive issues around the amendment.  However, when AMPCO filed its submission on Monday, the nature of this case, and with respect to Coral at least, threatened to change quite dramatically.  Instead of a review of the economics of the ramp rate amendment, the case turned into an allegation about statutory bodies engaged with collusion, and a number of parties, including Coral, being named as parties to that collusion; co-conspirators, if you will.


If this case goes forward as a case around the process of market rule amendment, it's a completely different case than if this case just looks at the impact of the rule economically.  It starts to become a case about who said what; what did they mean when they said it; was somebody mischaracterized; are people being mischaracterized or taken out of context or distorted.  It will obviously be a much longer case.


A preliminary determination, I submit, is required because we are going to have one case if the Board says this case is about the process and another case if the Board says that this case is about the rule.


I'll address, in my submissions, why I submit this case ought to be about the rule, not the process.


But, as I said, there's another fork in the road here, and that goes to the relationship between the energy institutions in this province.  AMPCO is saying in a nutshell that whenever it claims to have been hard done by by a decision of the IESO, it can come to this Board for relief.  Presumably that applies to other agencies as well, and it's a pretty small sector; we all know that.  It would apply to every other participant in this sector.  Whenever they felt that the process was unfair by the IESO or anybody else, the remedy is you come to this Board and reargue your case, because you don't like the result.  You reargue the case in front of the Board, and you point to the flaws in the process possess.


It's not just about the IESO.  There's been a lot of reference to 13.2 of the Act.  That's the section that requires the IESO to set up the stakeholdering process.  There's a lot of stakeholdering in this sector, a lot of stakeholdering required in the legislation.


For example, and I don't have to take you to it, section 25.12 of the Electricity Act uses identical terms requiring the OPA to set up a stakeholdering process.  Section 3.1 of the Electricity Act - and I will read this one to you – says that:

"The Minister shall establish an advisory committee to provide advice to the Minister on such matters relating to electricity as the Minister may specify."


There is a process requirement for the Minister as well.


And I'll just give you one other one.  This goes to the Energy Board Act, section 4.4:

"The Board shall establish one or more processes by which consumers, distributors, transmitters, generators and other persons who have an interest in the electricity industry may provide for advice and recommendations for consideration by the Board."


So we have a lot of agencies in this province.  All these agencies have a statutory stakeholder process.  All these agencies, in my submission, take that process seriously.  But we can't have a system where when anyone who doesn't like a decision by the Minister or the OPA or the IESO, or even the OEB in a corporate form, can come to a panel and say, That process was unfair; let me reargue it in front of you.


So the Board will be put in the position of being an umpire and a supervisor of stakeholdering and consultation throughout the sector.  And, frankly, we know how difficult it is in this sector to get a decision made and kept as it is.  To add this layer of review so that in every case the Board can look at the arm‑twisting and, as Ms. DeMarco said, the sausage-making that's involved in making all of these decisions, and then the Board will have to determine, Now was that fair; was it right that APPrO was looked at this way and AMPCO was looked at another way.


I don't see anything in the legislation that suggests that this is an appropriate role for the Board, and I also don't think that there's anything in the structure of this sector which says that this sector will be better off if the Board takes on that role.


So it's within this context that I'd like to turn to my submissions around why it is that the stakeholdering process should not be the issue in this case.


My basic submission is that all of AMPCO's allegations with respect to the process by which the amendment was made are irrelevant and should not be addressed and not be made part of this case.  This application should be confined to the review of the rule itself and the economic impact of that rule.


I have two points in making that general proposition.  The first is that, under the legislation, the review is confined to the rule.  There's no mention of natural justice or process.  


And my second submission is that the content of the review - that is, the meaning of unjust discrimination in the legislation - is economic impact.


So for my first point on the reference to the review being of the rule as opposed to the process, I'm going to turn to paragraph 7 of my factum.  I don't think I have to read section 33(9) again.  It has been read to you many times. 


But one important thing to keep in mind is that not only does section 33(9) not refer to the process by which the rule was made, there's nothing in the Act that suggests any supervisory role of the OEB with respect to IESO process.  


In fact, from a governance perspective, the IESO is accountable to the Minister of Energy, not to the Energy Board.  And there's a reference in paragraph 7 to some examples of the accountability to the Minister of Energy.


The Minister appoints directors to the IESO board.  The directors serve at the pleasure of the Minister.  The directors are required to comply with a governance and structure bylaw, including provisions relating to conflict of interest or ethical conduct, and the Minister approves the governance and structure bylaw.


So the accountability here of the IESO board is to the Minister of Energy.  There's nothing in the Act that says the Board has general supervisory authority over the IESO board.


And AMPCO's submission that you can read this authority into the Board from its practices, particularly in fees cases, is simply wrong.  First of all, it's the legislation that would have to give the Board that authority, and the legislation hasn't done that; so you can't have a settlement agreement which would give the Board statutory authority it doesn't have.  


But, secondly, the Board has never said, in a section 19 review, that it takes authority and will review the IESO stakeholdering process.  I have a quotation from the Board's most recent approval of the IESO fees at paragraph 8 of my factum, where there is a quote from the Board's decision.  And the Board says:

"Whether there are better alternatives to engaging consumers, this is a matter that should be left to the IESO in exercising the mandate given to it by the legislature, and the Board will not second‑guess the IESO in that regard.  This would be duplicative and inappropriate."


So the Board reviews the process.  It does not review the ‑‑ sorry. 


The Board reviews the rule; it does not review the process.  And the fact that the Board has approved fees and that the IESO as an institution uses the revenues from those fees to engage in stakeholdering doesn't give the Board a mandate to supervise stakeholdering, because the Board approves the fees for every activity carried out by the IESO.


So if you follow this slippery slope all the way to the end, then anything that the IESO does that was paid for by fees that were approved by the Board in a section 19 filing makes that activity subject to the OEB supervision.  That is a stretch that I don't think is justified anywhere in the legislation or in any kind of rational legislative scheme.


So the legislation says the Board reviews the rule, not the process.  The legislation doesn't say anything about natural justice requirements or the rights that are vindicated by the Board.  But the legislation does use this term, "unjust discrimination", and AMPCO says, Well, unjust discrimination is really talking about an unjust process.  


So if there is an unjust process, there is an unjust discrimination, and so what the Board should do is look into the process and determine whether or not that process complied with the rules of natural justice, and that will tell you whether the rule or the amendment results in unjust discrimination or not.


And my response to that is set out starting at paragraph 10 of my factum, and it starts with the obvious point that the term "unjust discrimination" is extremely open‑ended and it requires some context to determine what exactly this means, because it means different things to different people and to different institutions.  


So a human rights tribunal would look at unjust discrimination to mean one thing.  A politician would look at it to mean something else.  A court would look at it to mean something else, and a regulatory tribunal would look at it to mean something else.


AMPCO is saying what you should do is pretend that you're the Divisional Court and ask yourself, Well, what does the Divisional Court think?  What would the Divisional Court think this means if you were sitting on a judicial review application?  


Then, from that perspective, AMPCO is saying that the Board should equate unjust discrimination with the rules of natural justice.


There are several problems with this.  The first and most obvious one is that the Board is not a court.  The Board does not vindicate natural justice rights.  If AMPCO believes that it has rights of natural justice in this context, in the IMO amendment ‑‑ IESO amendment context, and if it believes that those rights have been violated, then the remedy is to go to a court, and the court can then consider that claim and make that determination.  


And bear in mind, this would be quite a complex legal issue for the court to determine.  And you've heard three different versions of what this right of natural justice might look like and whether it applies in this context at all.


But the initial question a court would have to ask itself is, Well, does that right exist in this context?


Now, this is a context where you are looking at an amendment to a rule.  So the court would have to say, Okay, well, do you have a natural ‑‑ do you have a right of natural justice when an amendment is made, but do you not have one when an amendment is not made, so if the process to amend a rule starts, but then it's determined that we won't make the amendment and someone who wanted the amendment is hard done by?  Have their rules of natural ‑‑ do they have a rule of natural justice with respect to the consultation around that?


And what is this content?  What is the content of this right of natural justice?  What does it consist of?  Is it the right to be heard, the right to challenge other people's evidence, the right to a formal decision on the basis of a record?


And if that's what it consists of, well, when is it violated?  Is it violated by the staff, by the IESO staff, or is it violated by the IESO board?  


These are complex questions when one looks at the staff of an institution or the board, the decision‑maker of an institution.  These are complex questions that call for the expertise of a court, because the courts oversee a large range of statutory bodies and have applied the rules of natural justice in different contexts for different types of bodies, depending on their statutory role.


And I think, you know, this Board has recognized that while as a Board it's bound by the rules of natural justice and it knows how to carry out a fair hearing, that's not the same thing as saying the Board has become an expert on evaluating every other statutory body's exercises of natural justice.  


And at paragraph 11 of my factum, I refer to some submissions made by Board counsel, so this is not a statement of the OEB; it's not a Board decision.  But it goes to the same points, really.


This particular quotation, the context for this was a review of a decision, and the application for review of a decision by the Board made the claim that the original decision violated the rules of natural justice, and Board Staff counsel made the submission to the Board that the Board should not be basing its review on the principles of natural justice because it has no expertise in that area.  I'll just read from, I think, the second sentence:

"Natural justice is of course squarely within the expertise of the court.  Areas of law fall squarely within the specialized jurisdiction of the Divisional Court.  Breaches of natural justice fall squarely within the specialized expertise of the Divisional Court.  Indeed, the Divisional Court wrestles with issues of that nature on virtually a daily basis.  This Board, on the other hand, does not."


The fact that the Board knows how to hold a fair hearing and comply with the rules of natural justice does not put it in the position of being able to adjudicate on other bodies in terms of whether or not they're violating the rules of natural justice.


I didn't add any cases to this effect, but it's trite law that when the courts review the exercise of authority by this Board or any other Board, they grant some deference to expertise on policy issues that the Board has to address, in this case energy issues.  But Divisional Courts and the Superior Courts grant no deference to Board decisions on questions of natural justice.  The courts say that is their area of the court's expertise, that it is not the Board's area.  I don't think this Board, in any previous decision that I am aware of, ever claimed to have expertise in evaluating decisions on the basis of compliance with the rules of natural justice.


When the legislature gave this Board the power to review market rules, and amendments to market rules, you have to ask yourself, did the legislature expect the Board to become a parallel Divisional Court?  Did the legislature expect the Board to engage in that exercise?  I think it's obvious that the reason the Board was given this role of review was because the Board has expertise in other areas.  It has expertise in economic efficiency.  And it's that expertise that the legislature expects this Board to draw upon when reviewing a market rule; it doesn't expect this Board to set itself up as a parallel Divisional Court.


You have to, in my submission, interpret this open-ended term "unjust discrimination" within that context.  Not what does unjust discrimination look like to the Divisional Court, but what does it look like to an energy regulator, to a public utility regulator?  The fact is unjust discrimination is a term of art in economic regulation.  I have at paragraphs 13 and 14 in my factum some excerpts from the leading authority onpublic utility regulation, Bonbright's principles of public utility rate, where he talks about what unjust discrimination means in the context of economic regulation.  What he's talking about is uneconomic cross-subsidies.  It's an economic meaning, it's not a natural justice meaning.  When the legislature says, Okay, OEB, we want you to look to unjust discrimination, to me it's unanswerable, that they expect you to consider this from the perspective of an economic regulator.


And it's a term of art well known to the Board, well known to economic regulation.  At paragraph 14 of my factum, I have a quotation from Bonbright, who is the authority in this area, who says these two terms are interchangeable.  "Unjust" means "inefficient."  And I'll quote from him.  On paragraph 14 he says:

"A better distinction than just and unjust discrimination would have been efficient and inefficient discrimination."


The two terms mean the same thing.  And in my submission, when the Board is carrying out its role in reviewing a market rule, that's how the Board should be equating these terms.  When you see an unjustice, it's an inefficiency, it's not a violation of the rules of natural justice.


I don't want to say that that's a simple issue or that the content of unjust discrimination in a market rule amendment is obvious or is the same as cost allocation in a rates case - it's a meaty, tough issue - but that's the sort of issue that I submit the legislature has asked you to resolve.


It is a tough issue.  And you will hear economic evidence.  And what is the economic impact on this rule?  Is it an unjust cross-subsidy?  Is it efficiency-enhancing?  As I've said, for those purposes, Coral will work with APPrO to make those submissions. But my final point is that the job given to this Board by the legislature is clearly to make that sort of determination.  Is this an uneconomic amendment to a market rule?  That's a big, meaty issue.  The legislature has not asked you to pretend you're the Divisional Court and make rulings on natural justice.


In closing, I don't think this is a threshold issue that should be determined up front.  In the normal course, these issues of relevance are determined up front.  This has been an accelerated sort of process.  I think it's the first time that you've dealt with a review of a market rule.  There are unique circumstances which they said produce everything and we'll determine relevance later.   
 In my submission, this is the time to determine relevance because, as I said to you at the outset, there are two different paths in front of you for this hearing, and I think it is important for the parties now to know which one it is that you're prepared to take.  


Thank you.  Those are my submissions.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. AVERY:


MS. AVERY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  TransCanada has just some very brief submissions in connection with this matter this morning.  As you know, TransCanada didn’t file any written submissions and instead relied on our friends at APPrO and at the IESO to make submissions that we now wholeheartedly endorse after having read them and having heard these folk this is morning.  We also endorse the comments that have been made by Coral and OPG in connection with the relevance argument.


Our second point today, and we would like to specifically echo some of the comments that have been made by some of our friends in this proceeding, that the scope of the Board's review in connection with this market rule is what's set out in section 33 of the Act, and that the scope of the Board's review in this case is to review the market rule amendment vis-a-vis the purposes of the Act.  That means taking a look at the market rule amendment and saying, is a move from 12 times ramp rate to three times ramp rate appropriate given the purposes of the legislation?  


The second part of the review, of course, is the review of the discrimination issues that my friend Mr. Vegh has just spoken to.  And again, TransCanada is of the view that that is part of the Board's role in this proceeding, is to look at whether the move from 12 times to three times, which is a simple move, it's just one line of code and one line of algorithm in a really large set of market rules, is something that discriminates against a class of market participants or a market participant.  Of course, it will be TransCanada's position that that's not the case.


Our final comment this morning is in connection with a more practical issue.  And it's something that Mr. Mark and Ms. DeMarco have spoken about at some length this morning, and that's concerning the March 26th submission that was made by my friends at AMPCO.


We agree that the March 26th submissions should be struck.  However, we think that the problem that is evidenced in the March 26 submission is bigger than just the March 26 submission, and that's its bigger than just the IESO production of documents that's been made to date.


AMPCO's original application, and also its extra evidence that was filed, I believe, on February 26th also include allegations concerning inappropriate stakeholdering.  It's our view, and to use a colloquialism, that there are some extra horses that have escaped the barn on this one and that the Board will have to deal with those horses.


It's our submission that all discussions concerning stakeholdering should be struck from the record, and that all documents relevant to stakeholdering should also be struck.  In the event the Board disagrees with us, however, it's TransCanada's alternative submission that TransCanada will need to rely on IESO documents that were produced in order to make a defence to the claim that there was any inappropriate stakeholdering that took place in this case.


Those are TransCanada's only submissions concerning relevance.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have anything?


MR. MILLAR:  No, thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just to respond to some of the remarks of my friends, Mr. Vegh referred to a recent decision of this Board in the IESO 2007 fees case.  And he read the quote from the decision about whether or not there are better alternatives to engaging consumers, this is a matter to be left up to the IESO.  We agree with that, and that's not the issue here.


The OEB cannot insist on a particular alternative.  The IESO chooses that alternative and proceeds with it.  However, if in that process it wasn't fair, there was procedural unfairness, that's the link to get it back up here.  It's not the Board imposing a particular alternative.  It's what the IESO has done with the alternative that it itself has selected.


Now, with respect --


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger, it seems to me we've come down to this.


Let's suppose there is procedural unfairness in this process.  We're now being told that even if there is, the OEB has no jurisdiction to deal with that.  That's exclusively with the Divisional Court.  What's your response to that?


MR. RODGER:  I think if I could work through my submissions, I'm going to come to that, Mr. Chairman, if I could?


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. RODGER:  Ms. DeMarco referenced the Baker case, and she's correct that paragraph 20 that she mentioned from the Baker case just says "individual" and not "groups."  But if you look at paragraph 25 of that decision, and I'll just read it, in part:

"A third factor in determining the nature and extent of the duty of fairness owed is the importance of the decision to the individual or individuals affected.  The more important the decision is to the lives of those affected and the greater its impact on that person or those persons, the more stringent the procedural protections that will be mandated."


So while the reference that was in our material said "group", if you put individuals together, you have a group.


With respect to Ms. DeMarco that our filings didn't comply with the appeal format, if you look at the appeal format and the items that are expected to be addressed by applicants, we've met all of those.


And on the notice questions, it's very difficult, if not impossible, to see how we could possibly have kept within the notice provisions, given the timing of disclosure in this case.


What some of my friends seem to be forgetting, Mr. Chairman, is the role of stakeholdering in the IESO's business.  The OEB itself specifically found that the stakeholdering process of the IESO was intended to respond to the removal of stakeholders from the IESO board of directors, and, thus, the requirement under section 13.2 to establish new process.  


And the OEB had found that the consultative process set out in the stakeholder engagement plan met the requirements of 13.2, and that was from the OEB decision EB‑2004‑0477.


Throughout the material produced in various places, the IESO states that stakeholdering is an integral part of how it does its business.  It's a central part of its operations.  That's the representation to the province of Ontario; that's the representation to all stakeholders in Ontario.


And to show how important it is, it has actually put forward a series of principles and put forward a plan; but if you listen to my friends, Mr. Chairman, it appears that all that is really expendable at the IESO's discretion.  They can get rid of it entirely when they see fit.  It really doesn't matter at the end of the day; that's what we're hearing from our friends.  


And if stakeholders like AMPCO have any problems or any issues, they should go off to the Minister's office or go off to court; in other words, that the Ontario Energy Board has zero role in this at all.


So you can approve an approach, but after that you're irrelevant in terms of what happens after that.  And how can that outcome be consistent with the public interest mandate of this Board?


The other implication is that it would appear that the section 1 objectives that have not been spoken about very much by my friends, they would seem to have little meaning at all.  They would seem to have the meaning that it's economic discrimination, and that is it.  That's how you must interpret the section 1 objectives.  And we think that is just plain wrong.  


If you look at the section 1 objectives, and we've included some of them in our materials, the idea of responsible planning, of supply and demand and resources, of consumer protection with respect to prices, is that limited to a narrow definition of economic discrimination, as Mr. Vegh has described?  We think not.


Now, it's interesting that in section 33(9) that the remedy is identical to the remedy for breach of procedural fairness, that you revoke the matter and send it back for a fair process, even if it was the right answer that was arrived upon.  If it wasn't arrived upon by a fair process, it's sent back.


Now, the counsel for APPrO referred to the market design committee report and went through the three grounds that were contemplated to be in section 33(9), but what's interesting is that, in section 36(1), the legislature did, in fact, restrict the grounds for certain types of appeals involving IESO matters.


And if you look at section 36(1), a person who is subject to an order made under the market rules may appeal under specified circumstances.


But those restrictions are not applicable or are not articulated when it talks about bringing an application for a market rule appeal.  So why is that?  Why would they set out grounds for a particular type of appeal, but not under the market rule amendment that's before this Board, because there is no grounds restricting it?


Just again to respond to the Inuit case that some of my friends mentioned, again, that involved a different issue.  That was about an entirely discretionary power afforded to the Governor General in Council.  Our view is that Baker would apply.  This is not a legislative decision and it's a new test that we should be applying, not this distinction, this old distinction, of legislative versus adjudicative.


Now, Ms. DeMarco has misinterpreted our issue of relevance around the materials related to the DACP and DAM.  These initiatives all are within the category of market evolution.  The issue is not whether there is merits of the day‑ahead market or the day‑ahead commitment process.  We agree the merits aren't what is before the Board today. 


The issue, from a fair process perspective, is:  Was fair process compromised due to some understanding between the IESO and generators that the ramp rate would be changed from 12 times if there was support for market evolution activities?


So it's the reasonable apprehension of bias.  That's why the materials are relevant.


Now, my friend, Mr. Mark, referred to some materials on the record involving Mr. LeMay.  I just want to take you through a couple of examples of materials that have been produced to give you a flavour of why we think this is relevant to the issues of day‑ahead commitment process and day‑ahead market.


MR. MARK:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.  This is reply.  I don't often interject, but I strongly object here.  Mr. Rodger had his chance in his submissions to try and put before the Board, if he wanted to try it, excerpts from the evidence which he says supports his claim.  And all of us would have a chance to deal with it.  


Reply is supposed to be responsive, and, in my submission, this is unfair.


MR. KAISER:  I think, Mr. Rodger ‑‑


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chairman, if I can just echo those concerns strongly.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, I'm just trying to respond to Ms. DeMarco's claim that we were somehow trying to deal with the merits or revisit the merits of the day‑ahead commitment process and DAM.  I'm trying to respond to show that the records have been produced.  The relevance of those records go to the bias question, to give the Board a flavour of why we think we're relevant and that why we're not dealing with the merits.


MR. KAISER:  Well, before we get into too much the flavour of bias, there's a legitimate concern here, Mr. Rodger, that today's hearing was to deal with the relevance of these documents up front before we got into them and splashed them all over the record.  I think we'd like to deal with the relevance issue in its narrow sense first.


I understand that you want to respond, but I don't think it's going to be of any assistance to the Board right now.


MR. RODGER:  That's fine.  Just to respond to our March 26 submission.


In essence, it is a summary of the facts that AMPCO witnesses intend to adopt and speak to and be cross-examined on.  That was the intent behind the 26th submission.  We needed to link those facts to the law so the parties would have a full understanding as to why the produced materials were relevant.


There seems to be some criticism that the form should have been different.  Our view was, whether the form was different, the substance would have been the same.  The goal was not to override any rules of this Board; the Board was clear of AMPCO's position heading into this proceeding.


It is a function of the facts and circumstances of this case.  AMPCO's relying on documents almost entirely that it didn't produce.  We've had disclosure up until last week, an incredible amount of information.  It's an unusual approach because this is a very unusual case.


We agree with Mr. Vegh in some points that this is a bit of a fork in the road.  But it seems to me the issues that are being put to you now to be decided are, firstly, you have to decide you have no jurisdiction whatsoever to review the IESO processes; that essentially IESO process is entirely irrelevant to this Board in how it's applied.


Secondly, it seems to me that you have to interpret the concept of "unjust discrimination" and the entire list of section 1 objectives to be solely limited to economic discrimination.


And then the hearing becomes about:  Is a wealth transfer between one group and another discriminatory?  That's what the hearing then becomes about.


The third implication would be:  AMPCO, you had better proceed right to Divisional Court because we can't help you here.


Those are really the issues, I think, that are being put before the Board today.  And those are my submissions, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  At the outset in your reply, you suggested the Board had approved the stakeholdering process.  Where was that?


MR. RODGER:  If you go to our submissions of March 26th re the whole stakeholder engagement process, section 17-20.  In 20, we reference the 2005 decision where you considered this matter.  You may recall that the IESO stakeholder engagement process was quite a big undertaking of the IESO.  You may recall the Singer and Watts report. That was part of the review process in that 2005 hearing.


MR. KAISER:  But was there anything in that decision- I don't have that decision before me - where the Board explicitly approved that stakeholdering process?  Can you help me on that?


MR. RODGER:  We don't have it right here, sir, but we could certainly check during the lunch break.


If you look at paragraph 21 of our submissions, if you look at the second paragraph, it does read:

"The Board therefore approves the IESO  proposals on stakeholdering processes.  It should be noted, however, that this approval relates to the processes that the IESO has proposed.  It does not change the Board's obligations to review IESO programs that have implications for IESO fees, expenses, revenue requirements, even when these programs have been subjected to the IESO stakeholdering process."


I think perhaps that's the clearest direction that you did approve the proposals on stakeholdering.


MR. KAISER:  On your submission that a review of the process and whether it was fair or unfair, aside from the fact that you say unjust discrimination would encompass the fairness or unfairness of the process, whereas your friends say, no, no, it's unjust discrimination in the economic sense, is there an argument here that you're making that a review of the process will inform us as to the intent of the parties with respect to the decision that resulted, and that will somehow inform us even as to whether the unjust discrimination was fair or unfair in an economic sense?  Do you understand my question?


MR. RODGER:  Yes; I think our view would be that the Board is unable to establish or to gauge the effect of the rule amendment itself without looking at the process that led up to that end.  I think that's our point.


MR. KAISER:  Are you able to help us at all on the question I put to you at the outset, that the argument that's being made by a number of counsel here, that even if the IESO did not follow its process, and even if there was unfairness, it's not that this Board has no jurisdiction to make a ruling with respect to that process; that's a matter exclusively within the jurisdiction of Divisional Court?


MR. RODGER:  We would disagree with that because we view the relief, if you like, in section 33(9) as, that's how the legislature says how you shall exercise your discretion.  But the grounds are not restricted on what you can bring an application on.  So, in our submission, there's nothing to restrict the grounds to bring forward an appeal.  You are restricted on what you can do.  If you find unjust discrimination or a violation of the Act, then you have to send it back; you can't put in a new alternative.


But in our view, there's nothing that limits the grounds like there is under section 36(1), which does restrict the grounds for certain other types of appeals.  That is not found in the applicable sections at all.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Rodger, I just want to make sure I have understood correctly what you would like us to take from 33(9).  You're saying that if an applicant came to the Board and said there's a market rule change that the IESO has made; I'm not going to argue that it's inconsistent with the Act; I'm not going to argue that it unjustly discriminates in favour over against someone;  I'm not going to argue either of those points, I'm going to argue something else.  You're saying that's entirely appropriate?


MR. RODGER:  No, if AMPCO was here, for example, putting forward, for example, another alternative to 3 times, our view is that you couldn't hear that.  All you can do in this appeal -- if you believe that there’s been unjust discrimination or that the Act has been violated, all you can do is send it back to is it IESO for further consideration.  You can't impose a different solution.


MR. RUPERT:  I’m not asking you that.  I'm asking you, if a rule came in here, or even the applicant itself was not trying to sustain that there is a 33(9) problem, but they had another problem, a different problem, you're saying that the Board would have to hear that case --


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  -- irrespective of the fact that the applicant might even admit there's privilege consistent with the Act and there's no unjust discrimination?


MR. RODGER:  That's right, that the grounds are not limited.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll take the luncheon --


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, if I might interject.  Just to be of assistance, and with apologies, the reference in question that my friend referred to in paragraph 21 is from the EB-2004-0477 materials, which are included at tab 11 of our binder.  I apologize, it might just be me, but the record, the decision does not bear out the quote that that included.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Rodger, I was going to mention, I think the page 5 reference, at least as I read it here, didn't refer to the page that was doing what you thought it did.  Maybe there is a cross-reference issue in your submissions.


MR. RODGER:  I'll certainly check that.  Sorry, Mr. Rupert. 


MR. KAISER:  Why don't you have a look now, and see if you can help us.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chair, we'll endeavour to get copies during the lunch break.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll take the lunch break now.  We'll come back at 2 o'clock.


--- Recess taken at 12:34 p.m. 


‑‑‑ On resuming at 2:11 p.m. 


DECISION:

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board has decided to issue a decision now on the matter of the relevance of the evidence with respect to the process, rather than deferring it, as Mr. Rodger suggested, in order that we can proceed with the case in a more orderly manner.


We are dealing with an application by AMPCO under section 33(4) of the Electricity Act for review of the three times ramp rate market rule amendment.  In that context there has been a discussion and a concern about the scope of the case, and particularly whether evidence regarding the process by which the IESO reached this rule is relevant.


AMPCO submits that the three times ramp rate market rule amendment should be revoked by this Board and referred back to the IESO for stakeholder consultation, based on the following grounds:  First, that the process followed by the IESO in the three times ramp rate stakeholder consultation process violated IESO's common-law duty of procedural fairness, by breaching AMPCO's legitimate expectation that the IESO would follow its published stakeholder engagement process and apply its stakeholder engagement principles, and raising a reasonable apprehension of bias that the IESO favoured the interests of generators; secondly, that the integrity of the statutorily-mandated consultation process has been undermined.  They say this is inconsistent with the purposes of the Electricity Act and unjustly discriminates against Ontario consumers in favour of Ontario generators.


They also allege certain substantive failures, as well, which are not at issue in the proceeding this morning.


Accordingly, AMPCO argues that the materials produced by IESO relating to procedural matters are relevant both to the issue of procedural fairness and also the substantive issues.


The starting point in this discussion is section 33(9) of the Electricity Act.  It has been referred to by virtually everyone this morning.  It provides that:

"If, on completion of its review, the Board finds that the amendment is inconsistent with the purposes of this Act, or unjustly discriminates against or in favour of a market participant or a class of market participants, then the Board shall make an order revoking the amendment on the date specified by the Board and referring the amendment back to the IESO for further consideration."


AMPCO argues that all of the IESO materials are relevant because they demonstrate that the IESO failed to follow procedural fairness in developing the amendment.  According to AMPCO, the lack of procedural fairness demonstrates that the amendment unjustly discriminates against its members in favour of generators.


In other words, AMPCO argues that it has rights of natural justice in IESO rule‑making and that those rights should be enforced by the Board in the market review amendment process.


All of the other parties appearing before us this morning state that this is an incorrect interpretation of section 33(9), because it equates the term "unjustly discriminates" with a violation of the rules of natural justice and it equates the Board's review process with a judicial review application.


They argue that the purpose of the Board's review in a market review amendment should be aimed at economic efficiency and not natural justice.


They say that the OEB should be reviewing an amendment to the IESO rules and not the IESO stakeholdering process; that the scope of the Board's review should be aimed at the rule itself, and the impact of that rule, not the process by which the amendment was made.


In other words, it's argued before us that the issue is whether the rule is unjustly discriminatory.  The Board agrees with that position.


Sections 19(1) and 20 of the OEB Act, read together, provide that the Board has general authority to determine any question of law or fact arising in any matter before it except where that authority is limited by statutory provision to the contrary.


In the case of a market rule amendment, another statutory provision does limit the Board's jurisdiction.  Section 33(9) of the Electricity Act specifically sets out certain grounds on which the Board may make an order. 


Accordingly, we find that section 33(9) of the Electricity Act is a jurisdiction‑limiting provision, not another jurisdiction‑granting provision.  That is, with respect to a market rule amendment, the Board's jurisdiction is not as broad as suggested by section 20 of the OEB Act, but limited by section 33(9) of the Electricity Act.


In this regard, the Board has also considered the submissions of various parties, and agrees, that the 60-day time limit for disposing of this review is consistent with the conclusion that the Board's scope of review is limited to the criteria set out in section 33(9).  


The legislature can be taken as having known that an exhaustive review of the process would render it impossible to meet these timelines.


We then come to what can be seen as a second and distinct issue.  That is whether there is a common-law principle of administrative law that the IESO has violated in the course of this market rule amendment process which yields a separate and distinct remedy.


The IESO says the common-law principles of administrative law do not assist AMPCO in extending the jurisdiction of the Board to review the details of the stakeholdering process.  They say that the IESO is a statutory corporation whose affairs are managed and supervised by an independent board of directors, and the functions carried out by the IESO under the review at issue in this proceeding is a rule‑making function and is essentially a legislative function.


They rely upon the Supreme Court of Canada's 1980 decision in the Inuit Tapirisat as support for the proposition that in legislative functions these rules do not apply.


AMPCO takes a different view and it relies upon the Supreme Court of Canada 1990 decision in Baker, as well as the Divisional Court decision in Bezaire.


The aspects of the decision that AMPCO relies upon can be found at pages 15 and 14, where the Court stated that one of the criteria that must be looked at in determining whether the rules of natural justice apply to a process is whether the parties had a legitimate expectation that those rules would be followed.  The Court states, in part:

"Fourth, the legitimate expectations of the person challenging the decision may also determine what procedures the duty of fairness requires in given circumstance."


They go on to say:

"This doctrine as applied in Canada is based on the principle that the circumstances affecting procedural fairness take into account the promises or regular practices of administrative decision-makers and it would generally be unfair for them to act in contravention of representations as to procedure or to backtrack on substantive promises without according significant procedural rights."


The Court also noted that another factor to be considered in determining the nature and extent of the duty of fairness that's owed to the parties is the importance of the decision to individuals involved.


As has been pointed out, there's no question that there's a significant amount of money involved in this decision; it's an important decision.  With respect to the expectations of the parties, there is a provision in section 13.2 of the Electricity Act requiring the IESO to establish processes by which consumers, distributors and generators may provide advice. AMPCO makes the point that a framework was established to govern the process by which these rules would be amended and implemented.  They say that this procedure, despite the expectation they were entitled to, has not been followed.


That may or may not be the case, but this Panel is of the view that that is not a matter for our consideration.  Mr. Vegh in his submissions questioned whether the Board should be a parallel Divisional Court.  We don't think it should be.


IESO may or may not have followed the rules of natural justice.  And they may or may not have been required to do so based upon the different authorities that have been cited by the different parties.  But that, we believe, is a matter to be determined by the Divisional Court, not the Ontario Energy Board.


Mr. Rodger did refer us to a decision of this Board on September 20th, 2005.  That appears at tab 11 of Ms. DeMarco's brief.  I'm reading in part:

”The Board concludes that stakeholder concerns have been substantially met.  The true test will, however, be the experience of stakeholders in the new process.  Stakeholders and the Board will have opportunities to review how well the process works over time as they are implemented.  The Board therefore approves the IESO proposals on its stakeholdering process.  It should be noted, however, that this approval relates to the processes that the IESO has proposed. It does not change the Board's obligation to review IESO programs that have implications for IESO fees, expenses and revenue requirements, even when these programs have been subjected to the IESO stakeholdering process."


Mr. Rodger's submission was that having approved the stakeholdering process it was incumbent upon the Board to follow through and police, if you will, the rule-making process.


We differ on that.  The two are distinct functions.  The review at question is a judicial review and best reserved for the courts.


That leads us to the Order requested.  Pursuant to this decision, the Board will order that any evidence relating to the stakeholdering process be struck.  That would include Mr. Rodger's submission of March 26th.  If the parties are unable to agree on what evidence is to be excluded or not excluded, the Board may be spoken to.


That completes the Board's ruling in this matter.



PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


Mr. Rodger and Mr. Mark, we were going to suggest, subject to your convenience, that you may want to adjourn for the rest of the day and regroup in light of that.


MR. MARK:  It probably makes sense.


MR. KAISER:  Unless there be some debate and discussion as to what evidence is to be struck and what evidence is not to be struck.


MR. MARK:  I think we should adjourn.  I think Mr. Rodger and counsel should discuss a number of issues that flow out of this in terms of what evidence is in or out and what procedures may be most appropriate to conclude the evidentiary portion of the hearing in light of your ruling.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger?  


MR. RODGER:  May I just have a moment?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, we would support that; adjourn the proceedings for today, and we'll speak with counsel for the IESO and others and perhaps resume in the morning with the path ahead.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you, gentlemen, ladies.  9:30 tomorrow.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:27 p.m.
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